FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/13/2025 4:04 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. Court of Appeals, Division I No. 85756-8 King Co. Superior Court Cause No. 23-2-09498-1

Case #: 1037899

### CITY OF SAMMAMISH,

Petitioner,

v.

#### WANTHIDA CHANDRRUANGPHEN,

Respondent.

#### PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Kari L. Sand, WSBA #27355 Oskar E. Rey, WSBA #21990 Aaron P. Riensche, WSBA #37202 Attorneys for Petitioner City of Sammamish OGDEN MURPHY WALLACE 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 5600 Seattle, WA 98104-7045 Tel: (206) 447-7000 Fax: (206) 447-0215

#

IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE				
	А.		ellation of Chandrruangphen's Short Plat ation Application Due to Inactivity7		
	B.	Two .	Attempts to Serve the LUPA Petition9		
	C.	Procedural History10			
V.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED11				
	А.	The Court of Appeals' Decision applying "secondhand service" to local jurisdictions in LUPA cases conflicts with precedent and raises issues of substantial public interest11			
		1.	Washington precedent is clear that strict compliance is required for service of process on government entities		
		2.	"Secondhand service" has no application to actions against municipal entities15		

# Page

	В.	The Decision Erroneously Allows 24 Days to		
		Appeal a Land Use Decision Made Available by		
		Email Rather than Postal Mail24		
VI.	CON	ICLUSION		

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page

# Cases

Brown-Edwards v. Powell, 144 Wn. App. 109, 182 P.3d 441
(2008)
Confederated Tribes & Bands of Yakama Nation v. Yakima
Cnty., 195 Wn.2d 831, 466 P.3d 762 (2020)25, 26, 31
Cont'l Sports Corp. v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 128 Wn.2d 594,
910 P.2d 1284 (1996)
Covington Land, LLC v. City of Covington, 2021 WL 2809610
(Wash. July 6, 2021)20
Davidheiser v. Pierce Cnty., 92 Wn. App. 146, 960 P.2d 998
(1000)
(1998)
Habitat Watch v. Skagit Cnty., 155 Wn.2d 397, 120 P.3d 56
(2005)passim
In re Est. of Toth, 138 Wn.2d 650, 981 P.2d 439 (1999)30
Landreville v. Shoreline Cmty. Coll. Dist. No. 7, 53 Wn. App.
330, 766 P.2d 1107 (1988)12
Meadowdale Neighborhood Comm. v. City of Edmonds, 27 Wn.
App. 261, 616 P.2d 1257 (1980)12, 18
Nitardy v. Snohomish Cnty., 105 Wn.2d 133, 712 P.2d 296
(1986)
Overhulse Neighborhood Ass'n v. Thurston Cnty., 94 Wn. App.
593, 972 P.2d 470 (1999)14, 15, 19
RST P'ship v. Chelan Cnty., 9 Wn. App. 2d 169, 442 P.3d 623
(2019)
Scanlan v. Townsend, 181 Wn.2d 838, 336 P.3d 1155
(2014)2, 15, 16, 23

Thayer v. Edmonds, 8 Wn. App. 36, 503 P.2	2d 1110 (1972)17
Witt v. Port of Olympia, 126 Wn. App. 752,	. ,
(2005)	
Statutes	
RCW 36.70C.010	1 19 20
RCW 36.70C.030	
RCW 36.70C.040	
RCW 4.24.080	
RCW 4.28.080	
RCW 4.92.020	
RCW 4.96.020	
RCW 51.48.131	
Other Authorities	
	12 21
Washington Laws, 2024	13, 21
Rules	
GR 14.1	
RAP 13.4	
	, , ,

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The purpose of Washington's Land Use Petition Act (LUPA) is to establish "uniform expedited appeal procedures and uniform criteria for reviewing such decisions, in order to provide consistent, predictable, and timely judicial review." RCW 36.70C.010. Accordingly, Washington courts have consistently required strict compliance with LUPA's procedural provisions, including its service of process requirements on government entities and its 21-day appeal period.

This case involves two attempts by Respondent Wanthida Chandrruangphen (Chandrruangphen) to serve a Land Use Petition (Petition) on the City of Sammamish (City), neither of which met LUPA's requirements. The first attempted service was on the wrong person. RCW 36.70C.040(5) provides that service on the local jurisdiction must be pursuant to RCW 4.28.080(2), which for cities requires service on the mayor, city manager, or their designated agent, or to the city clerk.<sup>1</sup> Instead, Chandrruangphen's process server left the Petition at the front desk of Sammamish City Hall with an office assistant who was not authorized or designated to accept service on the City's behalf.

Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals ruled that service was proper because the Petition eventually reached the City Clerk. The Court of Appeals based its ruling on the doctrine of "secondhand service," under which the office assistant purportedly became an "unwitting process server."<sup>2</sup> While this Court has upheld secondhand service with respect to personal service on *individuals*,<sup>3</sup> no other reported Washington decision has applied secondhand service to government entities. Since strict compliance is required when serving process on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> RCW 4.28.080(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Slip. Op. at 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Scanlan v. Townsend, 181 Wn.2d 838, 856, 336 P.3d 1155, 1164 (2014).

municipalities, the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with decisions of this Court, as well as published decisions of the Court of Appeals.

In addition, the Court of Appeals' decision impacts all forms of state and local government entities, and not just in the context of LUPA. Under the reasoning of the decision, secondhand service is an option in all cases where personal service is required on a state or local officer or employee. Therefore, clarifying the applicability and defining the appropriate scope of secondhand service with respect to government entities is an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The second attempted service was untimely. The City emailed notice of its land use decision to Chandrruangphen on May 8, 2023, which means the 21-day deadline for serving the LUPA Petition on the City was May 30, 2023, taking into account that May 29, 2023 was Memorial Day. The City Manager was served on June 1, 2023, which was day 24.

RCW 36.70C.040(4), which addresses the date on which a land use decision is issued, has been described in one Court of Appeals decision as a "quagmire."<sup>4</sup> The trial court in this case ruled that since the decision was emailed, the 21-day appeal period ran from the date the email was sent. The Court of Appeals reversed, holding that the decision was issued three days after the email was sent, relying on language in RCW 36.70.040(4)(a) that applies to regular postal delivery, also known as "snail mail."

The Court of Appeals' interpretation conflicts with decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals distinguishing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> *RST P'ship v. Chelan Cnty.*, 9 Wn. App. 2d 169, 178, 442 P.3d 623, 628 (2019).

between regular mail and other forms of delivery and warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).<sup>5</sup>

The Court of Appeals' interpretation also raises issues of substantial public interest because it ignores the real-world which is delivered difference between email. almost instantaneously, compared to postal mail, which can take several days to arrive. Given the purposes of LUPA and the need for clarity with respect to the strict timelines for filing and serving a petition, local jurisdictions, applicants, property owners, and other parties need to know how the 21-day period is measured. Accepting review of this case will allow the Court to provide helpful guidance on these two significant LUPA procedural issues.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See, e.g., Habitat Watch v. Skagit Cnty., 155 Wn.2d 397, 408-09, 120 P.3d 56 (2005) (holding that when it is unclear whether a decision was mailed, it was issued at the very latest when it is made available to the petitioner); Cont'l Sports Corp. v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 128 Wn.2d 594, 601, 910 P.2d 1284 (1996) (holding that "mail" means only "postal matter carried by the United States Postal Service").

## II. <u>IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT AND COURT</u> <u>OF APPEALS' DECISION</u>

The petitioner, the City of Sammamish, was the respondent in the Court of Appeals and the trial court. The City petitions for review of the published decision terminating review entered on October 7, 2024, by Division I of the Court of Appeals (the "Decision"). The City's Motion for Reconsideration of the Decision was denied by the Court of Appeals on December 12, 2024. A copy of the Decision is attached hereto, as well as a copy of the appellate court's Order Denying the City's Motion for Reconsideration.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. In a LUPA case, do the service of process requirements of RCW 36.70C.040(2) and (5) and RCW 4.24.080(2) allow for "secondhand" service on local jurisdictions?

6

2. Under RCW 36.70C.040(4)(a), when a local jurisdiction emails notice of a land use decision to an applicant, is the 21-day appeal period tolled for three days as if it had been sent by postal or "snail" mail?

### IV. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the standards for discretionary review of Court of Appeals decisions by this Court. Review of the Decision is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Decision conflicts with decisions of this Court, and under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because it involves an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should determine.

### A. <u>Cancellation of Chandrruangphen's Short Plat</u> Alteration Application Due to Inactivity

In 2019, Elizabeth Evans, then the owner of property identified as King County Tax Parcel Number 2025069110 ("Property"), applied to the City for a Short Plat Alteration ("Application"), requesting removal of the Property's non-build status, which had been imposed through the short plat process. Clerk's Papers ("CP") at 3, 109, 189. On February 22, 2021, Chandrruangphen purchased the Property from Evans and assumed the Application. CP at 3, 69.

On July 6, 2021, the City informed Chandrruangphen that the Application was cancelled due to inactivity, but it was reinstated on August 10, 2021. CP at 3, 69, 104. During the remainder of 2021, 2022, and the first part of 2023, the City corresponded with Chandrruangphen about necessary corrections and other actions needed to complete the processing of the application. CP at 11-13. Although the City issued multiple extensions, Chandrruangphen did not complete the necessary corrections. Accordingly, the City emailed a letter to Chandrruangphen notifying her that the Application was cancelled due to inactivity on May 8, 2023 (Cancellation Letter). CP at 2. The Cancellation Letter constitutes the final "Land Use Decision" in this case for the purpose of LUPA.

#### B. Two Attempts to Serve the LUPA Petition

Chandrruangphen filed her Petition in King County Superior Court on May 24, 2023, 16 days after she received the Cancellation Letter. CP at 1-10. On that same day, a process server left the Petition with Julian Bravo, an Office Assistant II, who was staffing the front desk of Sammamish City Hall. CP at 25, 91. The process server made no attempt to ascertain whether Mr. Bravo was an individual authorized to accept service of process on the City. CP at 91-92. Moreover, it is undisputed that Mr. Bravo was not authorized to accept service of process on the City. CP at 92.

Mr. Bravo then contacted the City Clerk, Lita Hachey, who was working from home that day. CP at 227-28. The City Clerk came to City Hall later that day and received the Petition. CP at 228. Although the record indicates the City Clerk took possession of the Petition on the afternoon of May 24, 2023, there is no indication in the record that there was a "secondhand service" in which Mr. Bravo personally handed the Petition to Ms. Hachey. CP at 228.

Subsequently, Chandrruangphen attempted to serve the Petition again. On June 1, 2023, City Manager Scott MacColl was served with the Petition—24 days after the Land Use Decision was emailed to Chandrruangphen. CP at 225.

### C. <u>Procedural History</u>

The City moved to dismiss the Petition based on, among other things, defective service of process. The trial court found that the first service attempt was on the wrong individual and the second service attempt was untimely. It therefore granted the City's motion to dismiss. CP 237-44.

Division I of the Washington Court of Appeals reversed, ruling that the City Clerk was ultimately served through "secondhand service" and that service on the City Manager was timely based on language in RCW 36.70C.040(4) that applies to decisions sent by postal mail. The Decision, published on October 7, 2024, is attached to this Petition for Review. The City timely filed a Motion for Reconsideration with Division I, which was denied after review of an Answer from Chandrruangphen. The appellate court's Order Denying the City's Motion for Reconsideration, dated December 12, 2024, is also attached. The City now seeks this Court's review.

## V. <u>ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE</u> <u>GRANTED</u>

- A. <u>The Court of Appeals' Decision applying</u> <u>"secondhand service" to local jurisdictions in</u> <u>LUPA cases conflicts with precedent and raises</u> <u>issues of substantial public interest.</u>
  - 1. <u>Washington precedent is clear that strict</u> <u>compliance is required for service of</u> <u>process on government entities.</u>

Well-established precedent in Washington case law makes clear that strict compliance with the statutory requirements of service of process is required for a trial court to acquire jurisdiction over a local government.<sup>6</sup> This is true for all types of actions against state and local governments, not just LUPA.<sup>7</sup> "When a statute designates a particular person or officer upon whom service of process is to be made in an action against a municipality, no other person or officer may be substituted."<sup>8</sup>

<sup>8</sup> Meadowdale, 27 Wn. App. at 264.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See, e.g., Davidheiser v. Pierce Cnty., 92 Wn. App. 146, 960 P.2d 998 (1998) (in action against County, service of process on County Risk Management Department is not sufficient when statute requires service on the County Auditor); *Meadowdale Neighborhood Comm. v. City of Edmonds*, 27 Wn. App. 261, 267, 616 P.2d 1257 (1980) (in action against City, service of process against the Mayor's secretary is not sufficient when statute requires personal service on the Mayor).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See, e.g., Nitardy v. Snohomish Cnty., 105 Wn.2d 133, 135, 712 P.2d 296 (1986) (in wrongful termination claim against County, "Service on anyone other than the [County] Auditor is insufficient"); Landreville v. Shoreline Cmty. Coll. Dist. No. 7, 53 Wn. App. 330, 332, 766 P.2d 1107 (1988) (leaving summons and complaint with administrative assistant is not sufficient to acquire jurisdiction over the State when RCW 4.96.020 specifies service on the Attorney General or an Assistant Attorney General).

Further, LUPA itself contains a "clear legislative directive" with respect to service of process.<sup>9</sup> At the time service was attempted on the City, former RCW 36.70C.040(5) provided in relevant part:

Service on the local jurisdiction must be by delivery of a copy of the petition to the persons identified by or pursuant to RCW 4.28.080 to receive service of process.

The Legislature recently amended RCW 36.70C.040(5), and the Decision cites the incorrect version of RCW 36.70C.040(5), which took effect on June 6, 2024, over one year after the service attempts in this case.<sup>10</sup> Prior to that date, there was not an option to deliver a copy of the petition "to the office of the person" identified by or pursuant to RCW 4.28.080.

For cities, RCW 4.28.080(2) specifies that service of process shall be:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Witt v. Port of Olympia, 126 Wn. App. 752, 756, 109 P.3d 489, 491 (2005), disapproved of on other grounds by Durland v. San Juan Cnty., 182 Wn.2d 55, 340 P.3d 191 (2014).
<sup>10</sup> ESHB 2039 (2024).

to the mayor, city manager, or, during normal office hours, to the mayor's or city manager's designated agent or the city clerk thereof.

When a LUPA petitioner serves the wrong official, the court does not acquire jurisdiction over the case, even when the petition is subsequently transmitted to the correct official within the 21-day appeal period.<sup>11</sup> In *Overhulse*, the petitioner served an employee of the Board of County Commissioners, who then forwarded the petition to the County Prosecutor's Office within the 21-day period. Although the County Prosecutor was the correct entity and had actual notice of the petition during the 21-day appeal period, the court summarily rejected petitioner's argument that this type of secondhand service met "the spirit of LUPA's service requirements" and substantially complied with RCW 36.70C.040(2):

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Overhulse Neighborhood Ass'n v. Thurston Cnty., 94 Wn. App. 593, 597, 972 P.2d 470 (1999), disapproved of on other grounds by Durland v. San Juan Cnty., 182 Wn.2d 55, 340 P.3d 191 (2014).

A land use petition is barred, and the court may not grant review, if timely service is not completed in accordance with LUPA's procedures. RCW 36.70C.040(2). This explicit statutory language forecloses the possibility that the doctrine of substantial compliance applies.<sup>12</sup>

## 2. <u>"Secondhand service" has no application</u> to actions against municipal entities.

The Decision is an erroneous departure from the wellestablished strict compliance requirement regarding service of process on government entities. As such, it conflicts with Washington precedent and raises issues of substantial public interest.

The Decision relies heavily on *Scanlan v. Townsend*,<sup>13</sup> which upheld the use of secondhand service on an individual defendant in a personal injury case. The statute at issue in *Scanlan*, RCW 4.24.080(16), allows service of process to be made "to the defendant personally, or by leaving a copy of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Overhulse, 94 Wn. App. at 598.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> 181 Wn.2d 838, 336 P.3d 1155 (2014).

summons at the house of his or her usual abode with some person of suitable age and discretion then resident therein."

In *Scanlan*, the plaintiff attempted to serve an individual defendant at the residence of the defendant's father. The defendant did not reside at her father's residence, but there was evidence that the father subsequently personally delivered the summons and complaint to the defendant within the limitations period.<sup>14</sup> The Court held that "direct, hand-to-hand—but 'secondhand'—service" satisfies the requirements of RCW 4.24.080(16).<sup>15</sup>

The *Scanlan* holding does not apply to this case because RCW  $4.24.080(16)^{16}$  applies to service of process on individuals, not cities. Other than the Decision, there are no reported Washington cases in which secondhand service has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Scanlan, 181 Wn.2d at 846.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> *Id*. at 848.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> This subsection was renumbered from (15) to (16) in 2015, so pre-2015 cases refer to it as (15).

been upheld against corporate or government entities—it has been applied only to individuals.<sup>17</sup> This distinction is important because Washington courts allow for substantial compliance for service under RCW 4.24.080(16) (personal service on individuals)<sup>18</sup> but require strict compliance for service of process under RCW 4.24.080(2) (service on cities).<sup>19</sup>

The Decision upends this long-standing distinction and would authorize secondhand service for the many other service of process options under RCW 4.24.080 and other statutes. In addition to cities, the Decision impacts counties,<sup>20</sup> special

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> See, e.g., Brown-Edwards v. Powell, 144 Wn. App. 109, 182 P.3d 441 (2008) (secondhand service on an individual defendant in a personal injury action pursuant to RCW 4.24.080(16)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Chai v. Kong, 122 Wn. App. 247, 253, 93 P.3d 936 (2004), as amended on reconsideration in part (Aug. 30, 2004) ("The substantial compliance doctrine, however, applies only to **personal** service") (emphasis in original).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Thayer v. Edmonds, 8 Wn. App. 36, 39, 503 P.2d 1110 (1972).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> RCW 4.24.080(1).

purpose districts,<sup>21</sup> and the State of Washington,<sup>22</sup> and conflicts with the many cases that have required strict compliance with the service requirements for governmental entities.

Secondhand service may apply when a statute authorizes substituted service of process on someone other than an individual defendant. An example of substituted service is RCW 4.24.080(16), which authorizes service of process on a "person of suitable age and discretion" at an individual defendant's "usual abode." In contrast, Washington courts have not applied substituted service when a statute, such as RCW 4.24.080(2), specifically enumerates who must be served and provides no alternate methods of effectuating service.<sup>23</sup> The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> RCW 4.24.080(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> RCW 4.92.020.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Meadowdale Neighborhood Comm. v. City of Edmonds, 27 Wn. App. 261, 264, 616 P.2d 1257, 1260 (1980) (holding that when "a statute designates a particular person or officer upon whom service of process is to be made in an action against a municipality, no other person or officer may be substituted").

Decision is therefore inconsistent with Washington case law regarding service of process on governmental entities.

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