FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/12/2025 12:30 PM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 1037899 Court of Appeals No. 85756-8-I King County Superior Court No. 23-2-09498-1 SEA

CITY OF SAMMAMISH,

Appellant,

VS.

WANTHIDA CHANDRRUANGPHEN,

Respondent,

and

DANIEL BLOOM,

Intervenor/Respondent.

RESPONDENT WANTHIDA CHANDRRUANGPHEN'S RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Duana T. Koloušková, WSBA #27532 Vicki E. Orrico, WSBA #16849 JOHNS MONROE MITSUNAGA KOLOUŠKOVÁ PLLC 11201 S.E. 8th Street, Suite 120 Bellevue, WA 98004 T: 425-451-2812 F: 425-451-2818

Email: kolouskova@jmmklaw.com orrico@jmmklaw.com

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

This is precisely what the Court of Appeals ruled in the case at hand, that secondhand personal service via Bravo on City Clerk Hachey is effective service: "Our Supreme Court approved of the validity of what has come to be referenced as 'secondhand' service of process in *Scanlan*." The *Scanlan* Court did not rule that secondhand service "substantially complies" with the personal service requirement as the City wishes the decision had stated; the Court ruled that secondhand service is personal service for purposes of RCW 4.28.080.17

The City also relies on the unpublished *Covington Land*, *LLC v. City of Covington* ¹⁸ decision to argue that secondhand service should not apply to municipalities. In *Covington Land*,

¹⁵Scanlan, 181 Wn.2d at 856.

¹⁶Chandrruangphen, 32 Wn. App. 2d at 539 (internal citations omitted).

¹⁷Scanlan, 181 Wn.2d at 856.

¹⁸18 Wn. App. 2d 1014 (2021).

the process server served the City's Permit Manager, who handed the documents to a Senior City Planner, who then sent the documents to the City Clerk in an email. The Court stated, "Covington Land acknowledges that the Clerk received the petition 'ultimately by email delivery' and 'not by personal inhand service delivery." The Covington Land facts forming the basis of that Court's unpublished decision were entirely distinct from the subject case. Nor is Covington Land precedent under RAP 13.4 that would support discretionary review. To the contrary, that is the point of an appellate court concluding a decision should not be published, so it does not create precedent.

The Covington Land Court distinguished Scanlan, stating "The cases relied on by Covington Land in support of their secondary service argument are inapposite because they all concerned hand-to-hand delivery." As such, the City has failed to show a conflict with Scanlan.

¹⁹*Id.*, 18 Wn. App. 2d at 4.

²⁰*Id.*, 18 Wn. App. 2d at 5.

The City also claims that the Court of Appeals ruled erroneously because there is no evidence of hand-to-hand service between the Office Assistant and the City Clerk. This is not a basis on which this Court grants discretionary review: it does not raise a question of conflict with precedent, constitutional issue or matter of significant public interest.²¹

Motion for Reconsideration, where it claimed the "Court demonstrates a misapprehension of the facts" due to a lack of facts "about what Bravo did with the documents" once received or how the City Clerk came into possession of the documents.²² This could not have been a "misapprehension" of, or overlooked, facts because the City had never raised this argument before its Court of Appeals Motion for Reconsideration. The City is tardily asserting a new claim that it could have raised in briefing on its July 2023 Motion to Dismiss regarding the same issues on which

_

²¹RAP 13.4 (b).

²²City's Motion for Reconsideration, p. 20.

two prior courts have ruled. RAP 2.5(a) allows the Court to refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court. "Arguments not raised in the trial court generally will not be considered on appeal."²³

2. Court of Appeals Did Not Erroneously Rely on Recent LUPA Amendments.

The State Legislature recently amended the service of process requirements in LUPA, allowing service of a land use petition on the "office of a person" identified in RCW 4.28.080 rather than the "person" identified in RCW 4.28.080.²⁴ The City claims that the Court of Appeals relied on this new language in making its ruling. However, there is nothing in the Court of Appeals opinion that says service was effective because it was made on the City Clerk's office. The Court did not rule that service on Bravo amounted to service on the office of the City

²³Wingert v. Yellow Freight Sys., Inc., 146 Wn.2d 841, 853, 50 P.3d 256 (2002), citing State v. Riley, 121 Wn.2d 22, 31, 846 P.2d 1365 (1993).

²⁴RCW 36.70C.040(5).

Clerk. The Court ruled that secondhand personal service was made by delivery of the summons and land use petition on Bravo, who then effected service by delivering the documents to City Clerk Hachey, thereby causing "the summons and petition to be timely served upon the city clerk to properly secure review pursuant to LUPA."²⁵

The recent legislative amendment evinces the legislature's intent to expand who may be served: not only the specific people identified in RCW 4.28.080 (mayor, city manager, city clerk) but also their entire offices. This recent amendment to LUPA, along with other amendments to RCW 4.28.080,²⁶ demonstrates a legislative policy to more readily allow service on municipalities. The Division One decision in the instant case is consistent with the direction in which the legislature is moving.

_

²⁵Chandrruangphen, 32 Wn. App. 2d at 541

²⁶The legislature had previously also amended RCW 4.28.080 to add city manager, and, during normal office hours, the mayor's or city manager's designated agent and city clerk. Laws of 1987, Ch. 361, Sec. 1.

As illustrated by the case at hand, service on municipalities has become increasingly difficult, particularly in the new "work from home" era. It is clear that the legislature intends that service on municipalities be easier, not harder.

RCW 4.28.080(2) is premised on the pre-Covid 19 notion that city clerks are at their desks in City Hall for the duration of "normal office hours." In decades past, it was much more straightforward for a LUPA petitioner to personally serve a city clerk within the extremely tight 21-day service window. In the modern era, as this case demonstrates, city clerks — like so many other employees— work remotely since their jobs now exist primarily in the digital domain. It is no longer a straightforward matter for a city clerk to be personally available during regular business hours.

Here, as the Court of Appeals noted, "Hachey, the city clerk, was working from home and, therefore, was not present in the city clerk's office during the City's official normal office hours.

She was thus not available to receive service as provided for in RCW 4.28.080(2)."²⁷

It is imperative that a petitioner have a reasonable opportunity to effectuate service and have its case heard on the merits, particularly in light of LUPA's 21-day statute of limitations. As the Supreme Court directed in *Confederated Tribes & Bands of Yakama Nation v. Yakima County*, LUPA "should not be so woodenly interpreted as to prevent judicial review on the merits."²⁸

Finally, any further review by this Court would be of very limited application because, effective June 6, 2024, anyone in the city clerk's office can be served. Although the Court of Appeals did not improperly rely on the amended version of the statute, as the City concedes, "the new version appears to allow service on

²⁷Chandrruangphen, 32 Wn. App. 2d at 540, n. 7, stating "That the city clerk effectively 'set up shop' at home was at plain variance with the expectation of the legislature in enacting RCW

4.28.080(2)."

²⁸Confederated Tribes & Bands of Yakama Nation v. Yakima County, 195 Wn.2d 831, 838, 466 P.3d 762 (2020).

the City by delivery of the documents to the City Clerk's office."²⁹

B. The Court of Appeals Ruling that Email Constitutes

Mail for Purposes of LUPA is Consistent with this

Court's Ruling in Confederated Tribes.

The City also takes issue with the Court of Appeals' reliance on this Court's ruling in *Confederated Tribes* that "There is no dispute that this e-mail correspondence satisfies the 'mailing' requirement of RCW 36.70C.040(4)(a)." The City again fails to show that the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with Supreme Court precedence.

LUPA requires that an appeal from a land use decision be filed within 21 days of issuance of the decision. The date of issuance is three days after a written decision is mailed, or, if not mailed, the date on which the municipality provides notice that a written decision is publicly available.³¹ In 2020, this Court,

²⁹City's Petition, pp. 21-22.

³⁰Confederated Tribes, 95 Wn.2d at 836, n.2.

³¹RCW 36.70C.040(4)(a).

sitting *en banc*, concluded in *Confederated Tribes* that an emailed land use decision is equivalent to a "mailed" decision under LUPA.³²

As such, the 21-day statute of limitations begins to run three days after the City emailed the Land Use Decision. The Court of Appeals held, based on the *Confederated Tribes* precedent, that

e-mail transmittal of a land use decision constitutes a mailing and, therefore, is governed by RCW 36.70C.040(4)(a). Thus, we hold that, for the purpose of obtaining LUPA review, a land use decision is "issued" three days after a written decision is e-mailed by the local jurisdiction.³³

The Court of Appeals decision is consistent, and not in conflict, with a decision of this Court.

This Court's *Confederated Tribes* ruling does not, as the City claims, conflict with precedent established by this Court or create "confusion about how such deadlines should be calculated

³³Chandrruangphen, 32 Wn. App. 2d at 538.

19

³²Confederated Tribes, 195 Wn.2d at 836, n.2

in the context of notices transmitted via email."³⁴ The Court was clear: email is the equivalent of regular postal mail for purposes of RCW 36.70C.040(4)(a).

Nor is this Court's discussion of email in *Confederated Tribes* dicta. The *Confederated Tribes* ruling would not make sense without the finding that email is the equivalent of mail for the purpose of LUPA. In *Confederated Tribes*, the Yakama Nation opposed permits issued to a mining operation and appealed to the county board of commissioners.³⁵ On April 10, 2018, the board passed a written resolution affirming a hearing officer's decision and granting the permits.³⁶ On April 13, 2018, county staff emailed the Yakama Nation a copy of the written resolution and an explanatory letter.³⁷ The Yakama Nation appealed under LUPA, filing its appeal 19 days after the April

_

³⁴City's Petition, p. 31.

³⁵Confederated Tribes, 195 Wn.2d at 834.

³⁶*Id.*, 195 Wn.2d at 837.

³⁷*Id.* at 837-38.

13 staff email, and 22 days after the commission's vote approving the written resolution.³⁸

The issue in *Confederated Tribes* was which "written decision" started the LUPA appeal clock. This Court held that the April 13 email was the written decision because the emailed decision was the same as a mailed decision.³⁹ If the Court had not equated email with mail, the county's decision would not have been deemed issued, and the resolution passed by the board on April 10 would have been the triggering issuance date. However, because the decision was later "mailed" (*i.e.*, emailed) on April 13, the April 13 issuance date took precedence.⁴⁰

The *Confederated Tribes* Court embraced the full consequences of equating email with mail, noting that "LUPA's 21-day filing period began 3 days after this mailing."⁴¹ This conclusion is consistent with *RST Partnership v. Chelan*

. . T 1

³⁸*Id*. at 835.

³⁹*Id*. at 836 n.2.

⁴⁰See RCW 36.70C.040(4)(a).

⁴¹Confederated Tribes, 195 Wn.2d at 838.

County, 42 an earlier Court of Appeals ruling that acceptance of service via email was adequate service for parties under RCW 36.70C.040(5). Despite the passage of time since *Confederated Tribes* and *RST*, the Washington legislature has not adopted a provision in LUPA addressing email, leaving these holdings as the last word. An emailed decision is treated the same as a mailed decision for purposes of calculating the total number of days under LUPA's statute of limitations.

The City argues that Confederated Tribes conflicts with Continental Sports Corp. v. Department of Labor and Industries. ⁴³ That case predates Confederated Tribes by two dozen years, and was decided long before email became the primary method of correspondence in commerce and government. Moreover, Continental Sports was neither a LUPA case nor did it deal with email.

-

⁴² 9 Wn. App. 2d 169, 176-77, 442 P.3d 623 (2019).

⁴³128 Wn.2d 594, 910 P.2d 1284, 1286 (1996).

The City also claims that *Confederated Tribes* conflicts with *Habitat Watch v. Skagit County*. ⁴⁴ It is clear that this Court, in Confederated Tribes, was well-aware of its prior ruling in Habitat Watch, particularly because the Court cited Habitat Watch in its decision. Like Continental Sports, Habitat Watch does not deal with the issue of email, or even when a land use decision is issued or in what manner. In *Habitat Watch*, the petitioner attempted to use a belated public records request to appeal earlier-issued land use decisions regarding grading permits. This Court expressly declined to decide when the land use decision was issued or in what manner because the petitioner did not appeal until well over 21 days from the date the decision was made publicly available.⁴⁵

In the case at hand, the Land Use Decision was emailed, not mailed. If *Confederated Tribes* does not control, then there is no provision in RCW 36.70C.040 that recognizes email as a

⁴⁴155 Wn.2d 397, 120 P.3d 56 (2005).

⁴⁵*Id.*, 155 Wn.2d at 409.

legitimate means of issuing a land use decision at all. LUPA defines "issuance" as a mailed written decision, a written decision that is made "publicly available," a decision made by ordinance or resolution, or an unwritten decision. 46 The Land Use Decision was never mailed via postal service nor was it ever made "publicly available" under City Code. 47 If emailing the Land Use Decision was not its issuance, then the City has never issued the Land Use Decision and still needs to do so for purposes of judicial review. The practical implication of that holding would be that cities can no longer email land use decisions. This runs directly against public policy and the Court's trend of recognizing the ubiquitous nature of email.

The facts of the case at hand demonstrate the danger of the City's argument. The City emailed the Land Use Decision letter

-

⁴⁶RCW 36.70C.040(4).

⁴⁷See SDC 21.09.010.L, outlining detailed procedures for how land use procedures are to be publicly noticed. None of these were followed. The only "notice" given was the email of the Land Use Decision to Ms. Chandrruangphen's attorney, which is not a permitted method of notification.

addressed to Ms. Chandrruangphen's attorney's street address as though it would be mailed. Ms. Chandrruangphen would have no way of knowing whether the City was sending the Land Use Decision through the post office, as was implied by the address on the letter, or if the email to her attorney was the only method the City would use to notify her of the Decision. The City holds all of the cards, and it can use this bait-and-switch tactic to muddle an applicant's appeal rights. The City unilaterally chose to email the Land Use Decision letter, and not send it through the post office, make it publicly available or provide any other notification, public or otherwise. As this Court noted in *Stikes Woods Neighborhood Ass'n v. City of Lacey*,

It is a well-accepted premise that "[l]itigants and potential litigants are entitled to know that a matter as basic as time computation will be carried out in an easy, clear, and consistent manner, thereby eliminating traps for the unwary who seek to assert or defend their rights."⁴⁸

⁴⁸124 Wn.2d 459, 463, 880 P.2d 25 (1994) (internal citation omitted).

The City should not be permitted to use its own lack of clarity to forestall applicants from their LUPA appeals.

Relying on *Confederated Tribes*, the Court of Appeals correctly deemed emailed letters and physically mailed letters alike, giving both the additional three days under RCW 36.70C.040(4)⁴⁹ This is harmonious with LUPA's purpose, which calls not merely for "timely" appeals, but also for "uniform," "consistent," and "predictable" judicial review of land use decisions.⁵⁰ The same uniform and predictable rule should apply so long as the City controls the method of delivery, unilaterally deciding if it will email or mail a decision.

The City cannot claim prejudice where it is in exclusive control of how a land use decision is issued. If the City does not like the holding of *Confederated Tribes*, it can send a decision via the postal service or make it publicly available.

⁴⁹Chandrruangphen, 32 Wn. App. 2d at 538.

⁵⁰RCW 36.70C.010.

IV. CONCLUSION

The City has failed to meet the review criteria of RAP 13.4. The Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with a decision of this Court or any Court of Appeals; to the contrary, the decision is wholly consistent with precedent. There are no significant questions of constitutional law. The decision does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that would warrant further review by this Court. The Petition should be denied.

I certify that the foregoing Respondent Wanthida Chandruangphen's Response To Petition For Review contains 4,273 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.